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Monday, July 26, 2010

--- Upon commencing at 9:32 a.m.


MR. WETSTON:  Good morning.  I am trying to find the middle here, but I don't think I have done a very good job.  Everybody hear me okay?  This is on?  Okay, thank you.


This is the continuation of the proceeding that we had commenced a week ago, I guess, a week ago Monday.


Mr. Thompson, I think it is your motion that you have filed after our discussion of last Monday.

Submissions by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


I assume you have all of the paper there, so I won't run through what I will be referring to.


MR. WETSTON:  I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  You should have in front of you, for most of my presentation, the notice of motion that we distributed on July 19th.


The first point I would like to make is with respect to the formal motion that we served on July 19th.  That was one day before the January -- sorry, the July 20th deadline set out in Procedural Order No. 4.


My submission is that this motion should be considered in accordance with its terms and as a formal supplement to the motion that we presented and argued before you on July the 13th.


You will see in the first paragraph of the notice of motion that that is the way we have characterized it:

CME will supplement the motion presented to the Ontario Energy Board ('the "Board') on July 13, 2010, with this formal Notice of Motion..."


It should not be construed as something other than a supplement to what was previously argued and was previously presented in my submission as a request for interim relief by several parties, including CCC, CME, Union, VECC and APPrO.


Now, during the course of the proceeding on July 13th, Ontario raised, in paragraph 17 of its June 23 written materials, the point that as a precursor to arguing these requests for interim relief made by CME and others, that a motion should be -- a formal motion should be served.


Now, relevant to that discussion, just to set the stage here for my submissions, it was the letter that we had sent on July the 12th, 2010 containing our position that a formal motion was unnecessary.  I don't intend to read that, but in the letter we indicated that you had the discretion to dispense with the need for a formal motion.


There was a debate on the record with respect to the need for a formal motion, but what was before you was, in my submission, a multiple-party request and should not be construed now, as the Ontario construes it, as CME flying solo.


Now, during the course of the debate last day as to whether a formal motion was needed from someone, I did make a commitment to file a formal motion if the Board thought it necessary.  The discussion on that point is contained in the record starting, I think, at about page 36, and the formal commitment that I made in that respect was at page 41, lines 26 and 27.


Maybe I will just read that for the record.  I do refer to it in the covering letter that we sent with our motion.  After the debate as to the need for a motion, at the end, I indicated at lines 26 and 27 at page 41:

"Yes, I'm prepared to do either, argue it today or bring a motion to accommodate the Board."


Subsequently, at page 42, starting at line 12, you decided, well, you were going to hear the matter -- argument on the matter today.


So that the motion, the formal motion that we brought in response to Procedural Order No. 4, was really, in my mind, in response to that commitment and in accordance with that commitment, and we brought it in the context of and as a supplement to what was presented to you on July 13th by a number of parties.


In the motion, what I attempted to do was encapsulate in the grounds the points that were argued before you on July 13th.


Ontario, in its supplemental materials delivered on Friday, seems to be suggesting that it was necessary for others supporting the motion to serve their own formal motion.  My submission is that is not necessary.  They are free to support this motion, particularly when it was framed in an attempt to respond to the Board's concerns about a lack of formality and to capture all of the points that were being argued.


The next point I would like to turn to is -- again, it stems from the letter of July 12th, that we sent on -- 2010 dealing with the nature of the argument we would be pressing on the motion for stay.  And that was to the effect that the landscape had changed somewhat with respect to the motion for stay that was discussed in the written materials filed back in June, because of acknowledgements made by Ontario in their June 23 material.


In the context of those acknowledgements we, in our letter, said we would be taking the position that the postponement of the effects of your actions was really a matter of entitlement and not a matter of discretion.


My position is that acknowledgements made by parties in contested proceedings, like admissions, are evidence pertaining to the matters acknowledged.


Once a party makes an acknowledgement on the record or an admission that bears on the relief being requested, that party cannot, in my submission, subsequently disregard it and proceed as if the acknowledgements didn't exist.  And there is a bit of that creeping into the material that Ontario filed on Friday.


So just I wanted to, if I could, reiterate the acknowledgements that we say were in the written material that Ontario filed on June 23rd, and also make the point that these acknowledgements were reiterated during the course of the submissions on the 13th of July.


The first two that we mentioned in argument last day and in our letter were in paragraphs 11 and 12 of the June 23 material the Crown -- sorry, Ontario filed.  I will paraphrase them for you, if you don't have that, because we did discuss them in the record.


MR. WETSTON:  I think if you give me a minute, I will track them down.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thanks.


MR. WETSTON:  I have the materials, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So in paragraph 11 and 12, we have, in my submission, acknowledgement from Ontario that your Board is fully empowered, as an independent quasi-judicial tribunal, to decide the legality of its own actions that are the subject matter of this motion for interim relief, and it goes further, in my submission, by relying on the Conway decision, to constitute an acknowledgement that there is a duty and obligation to decide those questions.


And as I mentioned last day, under Conway, these kinds of questions are characterized as threshold questions.


MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Thompson, if the Board decided to stay the case, why would it have that duty, as opposed to just preparing the record and stating the case?  So it's not invariably the case that it always has the duty.


I think I understand your point, but it is a bit qualified.  Would you not agree?

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm not sure because, in my submission, Ontario is acknowledging that you have that duty and obligation.  They're saying you should exercise it, and they're saying before anyone can exercise it on their merits they need to adduce evidence.


And so I would argue, in the context of those three aspects, it would be inappropriate for this Board to act before the merits of the legality of its actions have been adjudicated on their merits.  And Ontario is saying that can't be done until we lead further evidence.


So I would argue, I don't think it matters whether you stayed a case or do not stay the case.  Based on these acknowledgments, this relief should be granted.  And I think I said that last day, but...


MR. WETSTON:  Well, you probably did.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  The other acknowledgments that I mentioned were in paragraphs 15 and 16 of their material, the June 23 material.  And there they say in this case Ontario intends to adduce evidence.  So that, in my submission, is an acknowledgment that there is insufficient evidence in the record to determine the legality of these actions that you were directed to take on their merits.  And 16 is the statement that you should determine it.


Now, in their latest filing Ontario didn't put in any evidence.  They didn't help you with the question that they say -- on which they say they intend to lead evidence.  And the significance -- it is significant, in my submission, that there is this absence of evidence from Ontario, because there is no evidence to support the assertions that it makes in paragraphs 8 and 9 of its most recent material, where they are now asserting as a bald fact that these amounts that have been assessed or the amount that you were to assess is a regulatory charge.


There is no evidence of that before you, and you are left, in my respectful submission, the same way you were left back on July the 13th, with simply a number:  $58,695,310, and the submissions made both by Union and CCC, Union in paragraph 24 of its June 23rd material and CCC, I believe, in 28, paragraph 28 of its material, that on its face these amounts are unconstitutional and that you need to hear evidence to bring them into the legality category.  That is what Ontario is in effect saying, in my submission, in paragraphs 15 and 16.


So this is evidence to support the submissions that CME and others made to you on July the 13th.  Now, you have to add to that, in my submission, the reiteration of these acknowledgments on the record during the course of oral argument.  And on the point about the need to lead evidence, the form the evidence would take, and the discussion as to when it would be filed, found at the transcript, pages 12 to 16, and October was set, I believe, as the filing date for affidavit evidence, and we would respond to that at that time.


With respect --


MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Thompson, can I just interrupt for a moment?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. WETSTON:  It really helps me to have a better idea of where you are going with this argument.  I think I understand, but I would like to have the outcome in my head so that I could determine in my mind whether or not I understand and/or agree with your position.


So all of these assertions that you are referring to go to what issue?  I think you will agree with me that there is kind of two issues here around the constitutionality, if I could put it that way, besides these references.


You kind of have to split the case in two parts.  The Attorney General can argue and have their opportunity, but they're really saying that the constitutional issue and the evidence that is required for that, they're going to lead evidence on that.  We have talked a bit about that already.  And that is a very separate issue than the issue on stay.


Even in their written argument they say there is no serious issue, for example, in the stay.  Whether I agree with them or not is another matter.  But I am just trying to understand the purpose of these references and where you are going with that argument.


If you can give me a sense of that, then perhaps I can follow your references in my mind as to whether or not I am understanding it and possibly agreeing with it.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, what I am trying to do, Mr. Chair, is to respond to the concerns that were expressed in Procedural Order No. 4 about, as I understood them, a lack of formality in the grounds that were being asserted.


MR. WETSTON:  Right.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then a concern about the existence of evidence to support those grounds.


MR. WETSTON:  Right.  And so here is my question:  How does that affect whether or not the Board should stay the assessments or not?  That is really my question.  We are here arguing the motion, and the materials have been filed.  I am just trying to understand how that affects in some way or another the decision of the Board with respect to the issue that is before the Board.  That is really what I am trying to understand.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well --


MR. WETSTON:  That would help me a great deal.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what I -- my response to that is -- I hope this helps -- is that if you look at the grounds for the motion in my notice of motion, in paragraphs 1 through to 8 I have tried to articulate the grounds on which we say a decision postponing the effect of your actions is not discretionary, it is mandatory, because of the harm to the administration of justice that that caused.


And what I am trying to say is that the evidence to support those arguments is primarily the acknowledgments that were made by Ontario in their written material and reiterated during the course of oral argument.


And so we've got admissions, I say, that support the arguments that are set out in grounds --


MR. WETSTON:  I understand where you are going now.  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so all I wanted to do, in terms of the acknowledgments, is simply take you to a couple of points in the transcript where they were reiterated during the course of the presentation.


MR. WETSTON:  No, that's helpful.  You have established the connection for me.  I needed to have the connection.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.


MR. WETSTON:  Admittedly might get lost a bit, but I have your connection.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  So on the acknowledgment that further evidence is required before you can deal with this on the legality of the actions you took on their merits, that was discussed, I say, at pages 12 to 16, and an October date was set for that affidavit evidence.


Now, with respect to the seriousness of the question in issue, the questions in issue and the need for it to be determined by this Board as a matter of duty and obligation on their merits on evidence yet to be adduced by Ontario, in my submission, at page 76 of the transcript we have counsel for Ontario reiterated the acknowledgments that we had drawn from their written material.


And I would like to go to that if I might, because there on this question of the seriousness of the questions raised and --


MR. WETSTON:  Excuse me, Mr. Thompson.  Thanks.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- and their plan to put in material, too, before it can be decided on the merits.  Counsel for the Crown said this, at line 10:

"We are not going to spend any time on whether or not it is a serious case to be tried.  Obviously, the government is going to put in material, and in our submission we should be successful, but there is currently an issue before you for determination, and so we don't rest on the first part of the test."


In the material they filed on Friday, they just resile completely from that.  They just pretend it didn't happen.


MR. WETSTON:  I couldn't help but notice that myself.


MR. THOMPSON:  I submit you can't do that.  You can't withdraw admissions that support the request for interim relief.


MR. WETSTON:  I am sure I will hear an explanation coming forth shortly, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it won't be a good one, I'm sure.


So the acknowledgements are the evidentiary base on which we support the motion for interim relief as a matter of entitlement.


Now, in terms of the other grounds in the motion, your Procedural Order No. 4 expresses concern about evidence to support the other grounds that were argued by my client and argued by me and by others.


So what I would like to do is just, if I could, quickly take you through the other grounds of the motion just to flag where we think the evidence exists to support those grounds.


So paragraphs 1 to 8, as I mentioned, are the grounds in support of the entitlement, and I want to emphasize they relate to the point I was making when we were here before, that there are unique circumstances in this case.


None of the cases that my friend relies on deal with a situation where the adjudicator itself was directed to take actions, which the government that directed those actions now concedes are arguably illegal and concedes that we need more evidence before those questions can be argued.


What I said last day, and I will just reiterate briefly --


MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Thompson why do you think the government decided to use the Board for this purpose, anyway?  Why do you think --


MR. THOMPSON:  To make it look like rates.


MR. WETSTON:  Why do you think they did that?  What do you think that purpose was?  Maybe that is for the argument down the road and not today?


MR. THOMPSON:  Maybe it is.


MR. WETSTON:  Maybe it is.


MR. THOMPSON:  I suppose what I think doesn't really matter.


MR. WETSTON:  I ask the question, anyway, for everybody to think about why do you think the government decided to enact a regulation requiring the OEB to undertake this task?  Why do you think?  Maybe it is not for today.  Maybe you can come prepared in the future.


MR. THOMPSON:  I can give you a speculative response, but that is probably not terribly helpful.


MR. WETSTON:  Maybe in the future it might be.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it has the appearance of rate-making.  In my mind, the consequences -- the front line for reaction to the charge will be the Board, not the government.  It insulates them from being accused of taxing, and, of course, they probably couldn't do it as a tax without some legislative action.  Others have written on that topic, but I will leave it --


MR. WETSTON:  So you are on point 9 now of -- the first eight deal with your non-discretionary argument, I guess, if I could put it that way.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's right.  I just was making the point that none of the cases they have cited deals with this unique situation.


And the point that I make in paragraph 7, and reiterate in paragraph 10, about the harm to the administration of justice, my submission is that you should think through what Ontario is saying to the Board.


What I have said previously and reiterate in the grounds is the presumption of validity does not apply to your own actions, when you are fully empowered to decide the legality on the merits.  But what the government is saying to you is you must immediately comply with this regulation, which, in effect, orders you to do something that affects utilities and ultimately consumers, even though the government concedes that that action is arguably illegal, even though you have the authority to decide and the duty and obligation to decide the legality of actions, and even though we need more evidence to decide those points.


So if you take a far-fetched example, if the government were to pass legislation requiring you to kill intervenors to be identified by regulation --


MR. WETSTON:  To what?


MR. THOMPSON:  To kill intervenors -- this might appeal to you, Mr. Chairman --


MR. WETSTON:  I don't know.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- to be identified by regulation.


MR. WETSTON:  It never crossed my mind, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MR. WETSTON:  It obviously crossed your mind.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's right.  You would -- or the government would have you kill them before you discharged your duty and obligation to consider the legality of those actions on their merits, and before the evidence was available to enable that decision to be made.


I submit a court would never act first and decide later, and that an independent quasi judicial tribunal is in the same position as a court.


The corollary of that is if you do act in that way, if you do act in that way, then what does that do to the ability to consider the legality of the actions on their merits later?


I think you end up, in my submission, with a tainted objectivity situation.


MR. WETSTON:  You know, Mr. Thompson, this part of the transcript is going to get circulated to every LDC in the province.  You do know that, of course.  And so it is going to come back to haunt you in every case you intervene in in the future.  You will be reminded of it, I'm sure, but I understand your point.


MR. THOMPSON:  My life is not as long as some others, so maybe I am not giving up much.


MR. WETSTON:  Well, I wouldn't say that.  But, in any event, I understand the colour of your comments.  Go ahead, please.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So that is why I say the administration of justice is harmed by acting first, and then adjudicating later, when the actions are -- when the orders are made against the adjudicative tribunal.


MR. WETSTON:  Let me just ask you a question about that.  You are well aware of the presumption of validity associated with laws and regulations enacted by the government.


How does that concept -- in one way or another, how is that affected by this non-discretionary illegality concept that you are arguing?


Does it overcome that principle?  Because the presumption of validity doesn't really -- it is not really in the non-discretionary test in the sense of how you might formulate it as part of the tripartite test.


Where does it fit into this argument, in your mind?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am repeating what I said last day, but -- what is in my motion, but I say these unique circumstances -- in these unique circumstances, the presumption of validity does not apply.


MR. WETSTON:  Would it apply to a court?


MR. THOMPSON:  Not with -- if the court -- if the Supreme Court of Ontario had been directed by the province to assess utilities for $53 million, there is no doubt in my mind that they would consider the legality of that first before they acted.


MR. WETSTON:  That really wasn't my question.  I think what I am saying is that, as a principle, the courts would also have to take into account the presumption of validity.


Based on your argument, you would say it just doesn't operate in these circumstances?


MR. THOMPSON:  It does not apply in these circumstances.


MR. WETSTON:  It just doesn't apply.


MR. THOMPSON:  It just doesn't apply.  That is my argument.


MR. WETSTON:  You have no authority to support that?


MR. THOMPSON:  No, because this is a unique case.


MR. WETSTON:  Right.  Okay.  I understand.


MR. THOMPSON:  The presumption of validity applies in these cases where the adjudicative tribunal is in the middle between the government doing one thing to one person and the person saying, 'No, no, no, that shouldn't have been done,' so the government, the party affected, and the adjudicators there not having acted in any way to create the problem that the subject is complaining of, and I say that is a very unique situation.


I hope that is responsive to your question.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, grounds 11 to 19 really stem from the consideration of the matter in the context of the discretionary test.  And my friend has put in a lot of material about that discretionary test.  And all I was attempting to capture in the grounds 11 to 19 are points that Mr. Vegh made last day.  And I wanted to just, if I could just quickly run through those and give you the evidence that I think supports those points.


The first one in 11 says that there is a real risk facing utilities that Ontario might refrain from repaying the amounts that the utilities pay to Ontario.  And the existence of this risk was acknowledged in the record by counsel for Ontario in the transcript.


There was no agreement by counsel for Ontario that whatever is paid will be paid back by Ontario.  They were not conceding that.  And so as far as I can determine they are not conceding that today, that an argument is made by Ontario is that, well, they can get it back from the province if they try, but that is -- saying that and an acknowledgment or, if you will, a consent to an order that you make that Ontario must pay any monies back is two different matters.


If you made an order to that effect as a condition of whatever order you make here, that might balance up the equities.  What I was trying to say to you last day is that the better way to go to protect parties in the interim while the merits of the issue are decided is to postpone the determination but, as set out in paragraph 20 of my motion, make it on condition that when the determination on the merits is made, the legislation and the regulation kick in.


So we are not suspending the legislation or the regulation.  What we are seeking is a postponement of your -- the effect of your actions in response until the merits have been decided, on terms that protect Ontario.  And we submit the better way to go is as set out in paragraph 20 of the motion.


On the points that Mr. Vegh was making about the risk that utilities face, and whenever you -- in ratemaking terms, whenever utilities face a risk, consumers or ratepayers face a risk.


The evidence supporting those points is, I submit, in the record.  We don't need to bring a parade of individual ratepayers in saying, 'If this goes through, I will be harmed by "X" and collectively we will be harmed by "Y".'  We know from the regulation that the amount is $53 million.  It is not like Garland, or it is not like the class actions involving Union and Enbridge, where there was actually a dispute on the amount that was arguably illegal, because that -- the amount was only illegal if you paid your late payments too quickly.  And so there is a big issue as to how many had done that and so on.


In this case, the amount is -- we know what it is.  Tony Merchant and all of the class-action boys will say there is $53 million to be had here.  There is no dispute about that.


And so if you let these things go, in my submission, that is a real risk that somebody is going to say the amounts there, 'We'll bring the action on behalf of consumers,' and if that happens then you could well lose control of the manner in which the constitutional questions are going to be decided.  That could take it into a court stream that basically bypasses the Board.


So I agree with Mr. Vegh.  That is a real risk that is facing utilities, and if it is facing utilities, it is facing consumers.


The other points -- and the evidence of that is found in the regulation and in the cases of Enbridge, the class action against Enbridge, and the class action against Union, as well as the evidence before this Board dealing with those two proceedings.  And that is what is attached to Mr. DeRose's affidavit.


So as far as I am concerned, you don't need to have an individual ratepayer saying there is harm.  This evidence is all you need to conclude what harm is facing utilities and, by derivatives, it's facing ratepayers.


There are other features of the -- of what is drawn from both the Enbridge class action and the Union class action, which are before you, as well as the evidence in cases about those matters that is attached to Mr. DeRose's affidavit that we've described in paragraph 12.  There are these out-of-pocket expenses, risks, that consumers -- from whom utilities recover the assessed amounts, who cease to take service from a licensed utility.  So that is a class that may never get payback.


There is the inability of the utilities to keep track of who paid.  All of this came out of those Enbridge and Union cases.  So what the Court said, well -- and there they were only dealing with small customers.  This assessment hits everybody.


And there the inability of utilities to track all of this was an issue.  So the Court said, 'Well, fine, we'll give it to some fund, and hopefully some of this will filter back to the customers that actually paid it.'  So that was the ci-près point that Mr. Vegh was making last day.


 MR. WETSTON:  Now, Mr. Thompson, just on that point.  So in these circumstances, which you'd have to admit are quite different than the circumstances, which you acknowledge, in the late payment cases, you don't think that the money which is obtained from every consumer who pays cannot be tracked by the LDCs who collect that money?  Are you saying that, that the LDCs do not have accounts which it tracked exactly the amount of money that they're collecting for that amount, and then writing a cheque?


MR. THOMPSON:  That's right.  I say that's what -- I mean, they have, I don't know how many million of -- how many --


MR. WETSTON:  Listen, I am not suggesting it is not a significant sort of process issue, but I am wondering -- I am going to ask you the specific question.  You are in the Ottawa Hydro.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MR. WETSTON:  You pay your rates collected through the regulatory charge.  You are telling me that Ottawa Hydro does not know exactly what they're collecting from you for that -- for the SPC?


MR. THOMPSON:  No.  They know what they're collecting from me today.


MR. WETSTON:  Right, I know.


MR. THOMPSON:  But if I move --


MR. WETSTON:  Part of the problem is the forecast.  It's a forecast.  That is part of the issue here, because it is obviously going to be on a forecast basis, and I recognize that is an issue.  We talked about that a bit last day.


But if you moved -- so you're talking about the situation in which there is movement of consumers, obviously, and --


MR. THOMPSON:  Movement of consumers is a problem.


MR. WETSTON:  Right, right.


MR. THOMPSON:  And as I --


MR. WETSTON:  You don't have an idea as to the extent of what that might be?  Other than, once again -- I understand, there is procedural issues and administrative issues of a sort.  I understand that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we do have an idea, I think, of the extent from Union -- from Enbridge class action and Union class action, is that the utilities said and the court agreed we can't unscramble these eggs, is the way Mr. Vegh put it last day.


MR. WETSTON:  Right.


MR. THOMPSON:  So all we can do is the second-best solution, which is, because they were dealing with the smaller customers there, we will give it to a charity.


MR. WETSTON:  Into a winter warmth fund.  I understand that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And so whether everybody got the money back or not, highly unlikely -- that actually paid it.  But, more importantly, in both Union and Enbridge, what the utilities then did was say, Well, we want to get what we have to repay to the fund back from the consumers again.


So, in theory, the class action -- some of those class action participants paid twice, or three times, and got nothing.


So that is a real risk, and Mr. Vegh was making that point yesterday (sic), and I say it is a greater risk here, because the number is $53 million.  The settlement in the Consumers case was 22, of which only about ten went back to the cy-près to ratepayers.  At Union it is a smaller number, but, again, about half of it is going to the ratepayers.


So the risk here, in quantity terms, is much greater, in my submission.


Turning to the public interest aspects and the balance of convenience, and that type of thing, I reiterate that, in my submission, the public interest is better served by doing something that preserves, if you will, the principles pertaining to the administration of justice than otherwise.


That is, I submit, a very important public interest aspect here, and I submit the public interest is better served by terms to an order that assures some are not harmed, everybody is held whole, and the better way to do that is, as I say, is pursuant to paragraph 20.


The only other way that you could possibly do it, I think, and be assured that everybody who paid got money back is make an order against the government that it pay everything utilities have paid, as well as any claims by consumers that say they haven't been repaid by utilities.


You probably have power to make that order, since they're a party here before you, but it is -- in my submission, it is a far more cumbersome type of provision than what I have suggested in paragraph 20.


So I think I have covered the points I want to raise.  The evidence that supports the existence of these risks, as I have indicated, is primarily in the class action proceedings against Enbridge and Union, and the material that we provided pertaining to the settlements of those actions and the dispensation of those before the Board.


So unless you have any further questions, those are my submissions.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you very much, Mr. Thompson.  Anybody else with any argument?  Mr. Warren?

Submissions by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Two points very briefly, Mr. Chairman.  If you would turn up the factum that was filed by my friend on Friday last, at paragraph 14?  This first point is a technical point only, Mr. Chairman, but I think it needs to be made.


In that paragraph 14, my friend says:

"Following the hearing, the Board reserved on the five preliminary questions before it, together with the issue of whether to grant a stay."


As the Board will remember, Mr. Chairman - and I am sure you do remember, but in case you need an aide-mémoire - page 5 of the transcript of the first day, you suggested, without any disagreement from the parties, that there were in fact three issues that were not related to the five.


So I simply make the point that the five preliminary questions are a matter of historical interest, only, and that there are other issues which were framed on the last day that remain to be decided.


The second point I wanted to make, Mr. Chairman, I will make it briefly.  It repeats what I said the other day.  It strikes me that the issue before you falls to be decided not on the RJR-Macdonald cluster of cases, but really as a matter of practical consideration.


This Board has control over its process, and we find ourselves today in the following circumstances.  And I submit that the Board can take administrative notice of this.


We have assessments that have been issued.  Some of those assessments I presume have been paid.  Some have not.  Some consumers have been charged, and some consumers have not.


While it would overstate the matter to say that the circumstances raised by this constitutional question are chaotic, they are certainly uncertain.  It strikes me, with respect, Mr. Chairman, that the Board, as the regulator of the energy sector in the province, should take note of the fact that there is confusion and that the sensible thing, the practical thing to do in the circumstances, is simply to say, Let us down tools everyone on this process until these important constitutional questions have been resolved.


And that brings immediate order to the process so that no one takes any further steps.  No one is prejudiced.


I note in passing, Mr. Chairman, that we have no evidence whatsoever from my friends, the province, that there really will be a problem if there is a stay issued.


But my submission is simply at a practical level, Mr. Chairman, that the sensible thing to do would be for the Board to say, until these issues are resolved, that no one should take any further steps.  Those are my submissions.


Thank you very much.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Vegh.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, sir.  

Submissions by Mr. Vegh:


MR. VEGH:  Union continues its position that a stay of the assessments is appropriate.


Union did not file any further evidence on this matter.  As you know, while Union is, under the legislation, subject to the assessments, it has not actually been assessed.  So Union is not in a position to file evidence on irreparable harm or balance of convenience as it relates to Union.


Last time we were here, I made submissions on these issues as a result from operation of law.  I don't think there is a need to repeat those.


As I also said last time, if Union is assessed, it will be in a position to file evidence on these matters.  So Union continues to reserve the right to bring a stay motion, if it is assessed.


The issue that I would like to make submissions on is a point that was raised for the first time in the Attorney General's written submissions that were filed on Friday afternoon.  Both you and Mr. Thompson referred to that.  That point goes to whether there is a serious issue to be tried here in this case.


Last time we were here, the Attorney General effectively conceded that this test had been met, but, as I read the written submissions, I read them to have effectively withdrawn that concession.  So that is the point I would like to address in argument, the issue of whether there is a serious issue to be tried.


This is of course a first branch of the RJR-Macdonald test, and as...


MR. WETSTON:  I'm sorry.  Ms. Minor?


MS. MINOR:  I would regret if there was any amount of time spent on this.  Our position before was this is not the point in RJR that we are relying upon.  It is an extremely low threshold, and there is really no point in arguing about it.  We have not moved to strike this out as being frivolous.


If that is the test, so be it.  We are not conceding, by any stretch, however, that this is prima facie unconstitutional legislation or illegal legislation, which Mr. Thompson I think was characterizing our position as.  Absolutely not.


And this factum elaborates a bit more than we did then what our argument is.  But the fact that there has to be some -- that there will be some evidence put forward and the case will be argued does not turn it one way or another, in terms of whether it is prima facie unconstitutional or not.


Otherwise, every single levy that would be imposed by government, without some background of how the levy is related to the costs of the program, would be prima facie unconstitutional.  That is obviously ridiculous.


So, again, I don't want to interrupt my friend if he really wants to make the argument, but we are not relying on that first step any more than we did before.


MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Vegh.


MR. VEGH:  Well, sir, I think that is really up to you.  If you are satisfied that you do not need to hear submissions --


MR. WETSTON:  Let me make it easier for everybody.  If RJR applies, I am going to find a serious issue.  Does that help everybody?


MR. VEGH:  Then I have no further submissions.  Thank you.


MR. WETSTON:  And then I have no further comment.  And I am sure Ms. Minor understands the basis for that.


MS. MINOR:  Yes.


MR. WETSTON:  Finding.  Thank you so much.


Any other argument, Mr. Vegh?


MR. VEGH:  No, thanks.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.  And thank you, Ms. Minor, for your clarification, but you will have an opportunity to clarify that in a moment.


Anything else?  Nothing?  Okay.  Ms. Minor.


MS. MINOR:  My colleague, Mr. Virani, is going to argue this motion.


MR. WETSTON:  Okay.


MS. MINOR:  You heard from me once already, so...


MR. WETSTON:  That's okay.  Now, what is your name again?


MR. VIRANI:  It is on the written argument, Mr. Chair.  Arif Virani, A-r-i-f, and the last name is V-i-r-a-n-i.


MR. WETSTON:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.


MR. VIRANI:  You're welcome.


MR. WETSTON:  Go ahead.

Submissions by Mr. Virani:


MR. VIRANI:  Mr. Chair, the position of the Attorney General is the same as was articulated by Ms. Minor on the hearing of July 13th, and that is that the motion for the stay in this proceeding should be dismissed.


There are two broad submissions in respect of this position.  The first is that the relief sought by the moving party or parties, however this tribunal deems to characterize it, is without precedent.


By that we mean that we have been unable to locate a single instance in which a court or tribunal in this country has ever granted interim relief suspending the application of duly enacted legislation impugned only under the division of powers prior to a full hearing on the merits.


MR. WETSTON:  Let me ask you a question.  In your research have you discovered whether any government in this country, provincial or federal, has asked its regulator to do what is being asked here?  Have you found any?


MR. VIRANI:  The short answer to that is "no", Mr. Chair, partly because we weren't looking for that.  And my submission would be that that is not actually relevant to the analysis.


MR. WETSTON:  It is not relevant to the stay.


MR. VIRANI:  It is not relevant to the stay at all.


MR. WETSTON:  You might look at that issue later, possibly.


MR. VIRANI:  We will flag that, thank you, Mr. Wetston.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.


MR. VIRANI:  Second, Mr. Chair, the Attorney General's position is that clearly the RJR test is applicable on the stay issue, because we are dealing with suspending the operation of duly enacted legislation.  And on the three-part test for a stay the moving party bears the onus.  So that is my friend Mr. Thompson and the parties that are supporting his motion.


In respect of the three-part stay -- it is quite familiar to everyone in this room -- the CME's materials do not disclose a serious issue to be tried.  As Ms. Minor has just clarified, we are not resting our laurels, so to speak, on the serious issue, and we take the comment from the Chair that if indeed RJR is applicable, which we deem it is, that you would indeed find a serious issue.  However, secondarily, on the test for the stay, we deal with irreparable harm.


The materials fail to demonstrate that they will suffer an irreparable harm in the event a stay is granted.  As we have indicated in our written argument -- and this is important, and I know it will be clarified later on in my submissions -- the only affidavit from the moving party is not from a directly-affected entity.


And it is important just -- this would be apparent to everyone here, but the CME is comprised of many business entities who are manufacturers and exporters who consume electricity.  We don't have an affidavit from any one of their members.


What we have is an affidavit from counsel to the organization which is indicating that the irreparable harm is presented by the potential of class proceedings in the future against utilities that would be in fact brought by consumers.  That claim is not meritorious, and in any event the harm that is presented by that claim is not irreparable, and I will explain that.


Finally, Mr. Chair, on the third part of the test we look at balance of convenience.  The moving party's interest in this context is pecuniary.  What they are required to do pursuant to the law is demonstrate a public interest that overrides the public interest in the regulation.


What their interest is is actually at its core an economic and personal interest in securing a lower rate of electricity, a lower cost for their members.  That does not outweigh the public interest in the home energy savings program or the solar thermal heating initiative.


I will address the submissions made by Mr. Thompson and partly made by Mr. Warren during the course of my submissions.


It is just important, by way of -- I don't mean to belabour the statutory analysis, Mr. Chair, but section 2 of the regulation that is impugned is a directive measure.  It says "shall", this Board shall issue the assessments and it shall do it by April 15th.  Pursuant to that, and in accordance with your duty, the Board's duty, exactly that transpired on April 9th.  The assessments were ordered and the charges therein indicated that they must be paid by July 30th.


And as Mr. Thompson and some of the others have pointed out, I think Mr. Warren just pointed out, not only have these assessments been levied, but some of them have been paid and recovery has already commenced.


The CCC and Aubrey LeBlanc, the only individual ratepayer that is sort of involved in this proceeding, claimed that that is an unconstitutional situation, and their claim is focused only -- and this is important -- it is focused only on the division of powers.


What they claim is that this isn't a regulatory charge.  It is an indirect tax.  And because it is an indirect tax, it violates the constitution under Section 92(2), which says that only provinces -- provinces can only levy direct taxation.  Our position is obviously the opposite.  You have got our submissions in the factum as to why we believe this is not an indirect tax.


But further, and on the procedural issue, pending the resolution of the motion brought by the CCC on the constitutionality, we've got a motion that we're hearing today and that you heard in part the previous go-around which asks for an interim order, and that interim order is to stay the assessments issued on the 9th of April until such time as matters pertaining to the constitutional validity of O.Reg 66/10 have been decided on their merits.  I am quoting from the notice of motion filed by Mr. Thompson.


On its face, Mr. Chair, that is a request to the Board to suspend the operation of the mandatory direction in Section 2 of O.Reg 66/10 pending a determination on the merits of whether that regulation is, ultra vires, the province.


There is no precedent for that kind of relief, for that kind of stay being granted in a purely division-of-powers case.  So that is taking us to my first submission.


As I said at the outset, Mr. Chair, we have been unable to locate a single instance in which a court or tribunal in this entire country has ever granted this type of relief when you are dealing with a pure division-of-powers challenge prior to a full hearing on the merits.


Now --


MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Virani, what would be wrong with granting that kind of relief?


MR. VIRANI:  What would be wrong --


MR. WETSTON:  All beginnings are difficult, Mr. Virani.


MR. VIRANI:  That's fair, Mr. Chair.


I make the submission not to indicate that it would be outside of your jurisdiction to grant such relief, but I think it is weighty and should be persuasive for your analysis that such relief would be unprecedented


And there is really two reasons why this is significant.  First -- and the significance is that, first of all, as a step-back proposition, injunctions or interim relief of this in constitutional cases are rare.  They're rare, period.  So even in the Charter context they're very rare.  And we have outlined some of the rare circumstances when they occur.  In the division-of-powers context they're non-existent, from what we can discern.


The reason that it is so difficult to grant such relief in a division-of-powers case is two-fold.  One is that the focus of the reviewing body, the adjudicator, is different in a Charter case versus a division-of-powers case.  So in a Charter case you're dealing with fundamental freedom, right?  And this was cited in RJR.  It is referenced in, Mr. Chair, in your own decision in Sauve, which dealt with the voting rights.


In that kind of situation, what --


MR. WETSTON:  It was upheld by the Supreme Court, barely.


MR. VIRANI:  Which was upheld by the Supreme Court.


But when you're dealing with, in Sauve, the voting rights of prisoners and whether they will be able to participate in an upcoming federal election that is three weeks away, you are dealing with a fundamental freedom protected under the Charter.


When you are dealing similarly with social assistance and whether a woman who is pregnant in her third trimester has a right to receive social assistance so that she can provide for her own health needs and the needs of her unborn fetus, you are dealing with a fundamental right to liberty and security of the person.


When you are dealing with a division-of-powers analysis, not meaning to belittle it, Mr. Chair, but you are dealing with, did the province enact this properly, or should the federal government have enacted it?  Fundamental freedoms are not at issue.  The analysis is qualitatively different.


But the second point -- and it's an important point, because this did come out in some of the submissions by my friends, is that there is a presumption of constitutionality.  And Mr. Chair, you rightfully acknowledged this in one of your questions to Mr. Thompson, that there is a presumption of constitutionality in division of powers cases.


Because you start from the framework that this regulation that is impugned, I have to treat it as inherently constitutional, the onus moves to my friends.  It is their onus to demonstrate it is not constitutional.  We are talking about, at this point in time, on the stay analysis.


The support for that -- I mean, it is replete in the case law, but the support for that is the McNeil case, which I appreciate dealt with "The Last Tango in Paris", and it is a case you are familiar with from your time at Dalhousie law school.


MR. WETSTON:  Yes.  Not yesterday, but I remember it.


MR. VIRANI:  But further to the point, Mr. Chair, when we talk about presumptions of constitutionality, in Metropolitan Stores, which is the sort of predecessor to the RJR test, the Supreme Court there took on this issue of the presumption of constitutionality and said squarely that is not a presumption that is going to apply in a Charter case, but conceded that of course it still applies in a division of powers case.


So, Mr. Chair, at the end of the day, is the fact that this has never been granted this type of relief binding on you?  No, it is not binding on you.  But, in our submission and the Attorney General's position, the fact that such relief has never been granted should significantly influence the analysis.  It should be persuasive.


In fact, my friend has struggled to construe this as a very unique situation.  In our submission, in fact, it is not that unique at all.  Here I refer to a case that we cite in our written materials, and it is contained in our book of authorities.  That's the case of Kimberly-Clarke.


So in Kimberly-Clarke, Mr. Chair, that is found at tab 9 of our book of authorities.  Mr. Chair, if you wish to regard -- have regard to only one case in this entire proceeding, Kimberly-Clarke is the one you should look at, because in Kimberly-Clarke -- you will be pleased to note it is only a one-page endorsement, so that will make your time a bit less dear, so to speak.

But in Kimberly-Clarke, what we were dealing with -- what Justice Borins, then of the General Division, was dealing with is a directly analogous situation.  We have a regulated business that has a concern about a levy imposed by the Ministry of Natural Resources.


They claim -- they seek suspensive relief so that they're not forced to make such payment, because that levy is in fact an indirect tax ultra vires the province.


I appreciate you are reading it now, Mr. Chair, but clearly Justice Borins denies the relief.  He indicates it is trite law, that the remedy requested is an extraordinary remedy, and that in the exercise of its discretion the court must take care not to grant such a remedy lightly.


He assumes, in the second paragraph, that a serious issue -- that there is a serious issue to be tried with respect to whether the charges in issue constitute an indirect tax.


He then deems, however, that the plaintiff has failed to satisfy the remaining two principles, irreparable harm and balance of convenience.


He says - and this is important and I will return to it:

"Although I am not without sympathy in regard to the plaintiff's dilemma created in large part by the Air Canada case, I do not see how the plaintiff will suffer irreparable harm prior to trial if the remedy is not granted.  It is only after the trial that the plaintiff may sustain harm if it succeeds in the action and the trial judge fails to order that the money be repaid."


Leaving aside the Air Canada point, what Justice Borins is saying is that the harm here is speculative.  He goes on to say:

"On the balance of convenience wherein cases like this the government has a low hurdle to overcome, the Crown would be severely prejudiced by the order if granted.  Not only would the order tend to destabilize the pricing arrangement for the forestry industries, but the Crown would also lose the revenue."


So, Mr. Chair, we are not actually dealing with an extremely unique situation.  We are dealing with a case 14 years earlier that dealt with the exact same pure division of powers challenge, where someone sought an interim stay of that pending a determine on the merits.


Justice Borins, in his infinite wisdom, determined that the stay test is simply not met.


Your Honour -- Mr. Chair, I don't think it is required to peruse the cases, but in our factum you will note that there are instances of Charter -- of injunctions being granted against the government.  Those are Charter cases and, in our position, those are distinguishable, and they are distinguishable, in large part, because of the fundamental freedoms at stake, social assistance to a pregnant woman, social assistance to an individual who, without his drug card, may constitute a harm to himself or others because of his mental illness or autism, a series of autism injunctions clearly distinguishable from the case before you at this stage.

If this court is minded to embark upon a first principles analysis of the RJR test, we have to deal with the three stages.  Is there a serious issue, is there irreparable harm, and what does the balance of convenience demonstrate?


On all three parts, it is important, Mr. Chair, to emphasize again that on a stay, the onus is on the moving party, not on the government.


I will clarify now, and I will clarify it again, the notion that the government at this stage is required to adduce evidence is wrong as a matter of law.


In the Harper case in the Supreme Court of Canada, when our now prime minister brought a claim stating that third party spending limits were, in fact, a violation of his freedom of expression and that he should be granted injunctive relief against such spending limits, the trial judge in that case said Mr. Harper has a pretty reasonable argument.  Where is the proof from the government that such third party spending limits, if stayed, would resulted in harm to the public interest?


Justice McLachlin and the entire Supreme Court of Canada, when that case got all the way up to the Supreme Court, said that's wrong.  There is no requirement on the government at an interim stay assessment to adduce evidence.


The evidence is later on in the process, as Ms. Minor explained at our first hearing.  It is on the determination on the merits.  It is not at this interim or interlocutory stage.


Mr. Chair, on the serious issue to be tried, I think we have belaboured that enough.  Our position is as stated in our written materials.  We appreciate and acknowledge it is a low threshold test.  You are dealing with frivolousness or vexatiousness, and you are not to do a rigorous assessment.


If we deal with irreparable harm, Mr. Chair, the CME has not adduced evidence to substantiate irreparable harm.  Now, my friend has taken -- I will return to Mr. Thompson's comments in a moment.  But on the issue of irreparability, Mr. Chair, there is a few key concerns.


One is that we have to locate the analysis.  The nexus of the analysis is in the Supreme Court's decision in RJR.  In RJR they said, and I am quoting from paragraph 59:

"'Irreparable' refers to the nature of harm rather than its magnitude."


This is not a question of $1,000 versus $10.00.  It is the nature of the harm.


Secondly, they said:

"It is harm which either cannot be quantified in monetary terms or which cannot be cured..."


It is a disjunctive test.  It is an either/or.  But, in fact, in this position, in our submission, we meet both aspects of this test.  The harm, as you very correctly pointed out, Mr. Chair, in your questioning of Mr. Thompson, can indeed be quantified in monetary terms.

What we are quibbling about is not $53 million writ large.  It is the $2 million that Toronto Hydro has to -- is assessed to pay.  It is the hypothetical amount that Ottawa Hydro is assessed to pay, and the fact that those payments are then passed on to the individual consumers.

That is an item, a levy, that is inherently quantifiable in monetary terms, and it is completely distinguishable from, again, the case of the pregnant woman who has a fetus whose harm can't be quantified in monetary terms.


Secondly, Mr. Chair -- and this is very important because, again, it wasn't canvassed much except by my co-counsel in the previous go round and it hasn't been canvassed again here.  The second point that is important is that this harm, if any, can be cured.  What do I mean by that?


I mean that there is a legal basis or principle upon which the moving parties could be made whole.  Now, why is this important?  It is important because there is a decision called King Street, which was canvassed by Ms. Minor in oral argument on the 13th.  It was also supplied to this Board shortly thereafter.  I think one day after.  And it is also contained in our book of authorities.

What King Street plainly says, in that case you are dealing with, again, an analogous situation.  You've got -- I believe it is in Nova Scotia.  You have a bar owner who is paying for certain alcohol and as part of the payments for the alcohol that he purchases from the provincial body -- all the cases seem to relate to Nova Scotia, I apologize.


MR. WETSTON:  Films and booze.


MR. VIRANI:  It is a den of sin over there.


MR. WETSTON:  I grew up in Nova Scotia.  This hearing started by killing intervenors.  The transcript will be colourful, if nothing else.

MR. VIRANI:  In the King Street case these bar owners are purchasing their alcohol from the regulated provincial entity, and they're also paying a user charge.  They bring a claim very similar to the claim here that that is not a proper regulatory charge.  That is an indirect tax.


That claim is vindicated on its merits, and the question is, what kind of remedy do we have?  And what the Court says in that case is that indeed you do have a remedy.  The remedy is that restitution is generally available for the recovery of monies collected pursuant to legislation that is later declared ultra vires.


And in making this seminal statement of the law, what the court did -- and it is a unanimous court, and it's Justice Bastarache writing for the entire court -- is that they reversed the old Air Canada immunity law.


And what the immunity law said, from Air Canada, it was a principle that was entrenched by Justice LaForest in that case, and it used to say that policy considerations operate to take claims for taxes paid pursuant to unlawful legislation outside of the restitutionary context.


So the old rule, under that old rule, no recovery under restitution.  Under the King Street rule, Air Canada is bad law.  We've now got a principle under which monies paid pursuant to an unconstitutional scheme are recoverable by those who paid it.  Thus the harm is curable.


It is a critical point.  It is also critical because the case I just referred you to in Kimberly-Clarke, Justice Borins was a little troubled by this.  He said to Kimberly-Clarke, 'I know you are concerned about Air Canada and this bar against your recovery.'  Even though there was that bar against recovery in that case, Justice Borins didn't find the harm to be irreparable.


What the moving party is asking you now is that, notwithstanding the fact that Air Canada is no longer binding law, notwithstanding the fact that King Street could ground recovery and help me -- and enable me to be made whole, in terms of the fine, I still am going to be harmed irreparably.  That is just not accurate as a matter of law.


MR. WETSTON:  And you don't think the fact that the parties may have to sue the government to get the money by way of restitution makes any difference whatsoever?


MR. VIRANI:  I don't think so.  Yes, it's --


MR. WETSTON:  Despite the cost and the effort.


MR. VIRANI:  I will address that momentarily, in terms of the cost and the effort, but it's not -- it's not determinative on this issue.  And secondly, it is speculative as to whether that's exactly how in fact it would play out.


Another point that has been made in the hearings earlier and again in the submissions you have heard today, Mr. Chair, are that, in fact, there needs to be some sort of guarantee of indemnification, so that either pursuant to perhaps an order of this Board -- leaving aside whether you would have jurisdiction to make that type of order in this context -- but either pursuant to an order of this Board or perhaps by some sort of undertaking by counsel or otherwise, Ontario has to guarantee that it will return these monies.


And again, my friend has referenced submissions made by Ms. Minor at the previous hearing, in which she indicated that there is a good argument about this type of money being recoverable, but it is not a guarantee.


That's true as a matter of logic, because obviously the restitution would only be owed if the claim is made out on its merits, but it is also true that as a matter of the legal requirement in RJR, which is again the nexus of the analysis, you don't need a guarantee that someone can be made whole.  All that is required is legal basis or legal principle upon which they could be made whole.


So in the RJR passage that is cited over and over again, they say presumably one could be -- it is harm which either cannot be quantified in monetary terms or which cannot be cured, usually because one party cannot collect damages from the other.


The Supreme Court did not say that you require a guarantee that you will be able to collect damages or a guarantee of some other means of being made whole.  It simply requires a basis upon which you could be made whole, and that is a critical component that is missing in my friends' argumentation.


If I could just have the Court's indulgence.


Ms. Minor importantly notes that in the King Street Investments decision it is also critical to understand that the notion of the moving parties in this case requiring or deserving some sort of guarantee of being made whole also betrays the commentary in that decision.


In King Street, it plainly says that restitution of this order is subject to certain other considerations; for example, a limitation period, which was applied in that case, of six years.  Also, there might be a suspended declaration of invalidity.  And what that means in constitutional parlance is effectively there would be a temporary time in which the government could rectify the situation, passing a direct piece of legislation that directly taxed the regulated entities and thereby collect the money, perhaps even retroactively.


So there are a number of reasons upon which a guarantee of being made whole is not required.  And we rely upon the Eurig case for that position as well.


In Mr. Thompson's submissions, both today and in the extensive submissions that were made on the hearing on July 13th, there was an argument that irreparable harm will occur because one cannot assure that those who actually pay to utilities the amounts in question that are subsequently found to be unconstitutional receive a full refund.  So this was just canvassed this morning by Mr. Thompson.


And on this point, Mr. Chair, we have a number of responses.  The first response is that there is actually no direct evidence of this problem, right?  We don't have direct evidence from an affected party that they will suffer irreparable harm by failing to recover in full their monies paid out to Toronto Hydro, Ottawa Hydro, as the case may be.  And I will address this point a bit further, in further detail, as we proceed.


But the second point, as was rightfully demonstrated by your question to Mr. Thompson, is that it is not at all clear in this case that we are dealing with a situation with a calculation of the money owed to the affected consumer would be at all difficult or problematic.


This is, again, a damage that can be reduced into monetary terms.  It is quite clear, in terms of the operation of the regulation, if you are going to recover it from Mr. Thompson in Ottawa at his individual residence, then you are going to have in place the mechanisms to trace that amount, and you can equally trace it back.


It may be difficult to eventually distribute it later on, perhaps a year down the line, perhaps several years down the line, but those are the concerns or the vagaries of class proceedings or any complex proceeding.  That vagary, that potential for people to die, people to move, et cetera, does not in and of itself constitute irreparable harm.


MR. WETSTON:  See, the difference -- I understand your argument, and we've been discussing it, but, you know, the difference here is that this Board knows how complicated it is.  You are not addressing a Board that doesn't appreciate how difficult it would be for the utilities to do what you say, and the costs associated with it.


It is not as straightforward as you suggest.  It would never be as straightforward.  That is not to say -- and I am not saying by this comment -- that the parties have made out irreparable harm.  I am not saying that.


But what I am saying here is that the notion of being able to track all of this administratively and return it to each ratepayer by sending them back a cheque for $8 or $40 is just not going to happen, because all of this is tracked through -- that's the reason for the variance accounts.  I've discussed deferral accounts in the past.  It is just not going to happen that way, because the money is collected on a forward basis, on a forecasted basis, and that is why the variance accounts have been set up.


And so from a pragmatic point of view, if this money is collected and returned, it is not going to be very -- it's not going to be possible or achievable without a great deal of cost and effort to give you back your $8, Mr. Virani, or your $10.  It is not going to happen.  In my opinion, at least, it is not going to happen that way, because that would be administratively complex, challenging, and difficult.


Now, having said that, these revenues are collected on a forward-test-year basis, and that is one of the reasons.  So we need to rely on the ratemaking process in order to achieve this result.


So it is complicated by that, which is part of the reasons why Mr. Warren says we need a pragmatic solution, which Mr. Vegh talks about, the issues around whether or not there may be irreparable harm or not, the submissions that Mr. Thompson is making.


So I would really like the Attorney General of Ontario to understand and the government to understand it is not straightforward whatsoever.  And as I said before, in the event that that it is held unconstitutional, the likely best outcome will be some kind of a revenue set-off rather than a direct cheque being written to ratepayers in this province, which you say is the full answer, but I don't want to leave any doubt in your mind that it would not be administratively complex and difficult, because you are talking to the Board that has to do it.


MR. VIRANI:  Duly noted, Mr. Chair.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you, Mr. Virani.


MR. VIRANI:  You're welcome.


The sole submission I would make on that point, Mr. Chair, is the test required in RJR for curing the defect doesn't speak to the difficulties that may ensue in curing the defect or the administrative hurdles, et cetera.


MR. WETSTON:  And maybe that is what a court should know and understand --


MR. VIRANI:  Fair enough, Mr. Chair.


MR. WETSTON:  -- when it thinks about issues in this context versus potentially another context.


So my only point in bringing it to your attention is not to lecture on this point, but to indicate that you are talking to the Board that has to administratively make it happen, in the event that it is held unconstitutional, in the event that the stay is not granted in the way that you are advocating and proposing today.


I just want everybody to understand it is not straightforward.  We may be able to set up mechanisms in the event we do it, but it is not straightforward.  I think that is why Mr. Warren says to this Board, Be practical.


I am not assuming we are not practical, Mr. Warren, by making that suggestion, I suppose.


Mr. Virani, I am sorry to interrupt, but I want you to understand that point.


MR. VIRANI:  Thank you.


MR. WETSTON:  I would like to clarify one other point before you begin.


MR. VIRANI:  Yes.


MR. WETSTON:  Now of course it might be constitutional and this argument may all invariably -- this Board may not have to engage in that kind of exercise for obvious reasons.


So I just want to clarify that in the event that is it held not to be in some way or another -- and I suspect that given our discussions that we have had, the likelihood that would have to be a court determining or declaring it to be unconstitutional, that may very well occur that it will be upheld and you will make that argument in the future obviously at some point, should that occur.


So having said that, it is important for me that the record indicate not only the fact that I understand your arguments today, but I don't want you to go away thinking this is a simple, We will write you a cheque.  It is not that simple.


MR. VIRANI:  Further on this point, Mr. Chair, the case law is extremely clear in respect of the burden upon the moving party to demonstrate irreparable harm, and, secondly, from whom that irreparable harm must be demonstrated.


So in a case that is in my materials called the Amnesty case, at paragraph 34 - I don't need you to turn to it, but just for -- that is tab 23 of my materials.  The Court in that instance indicated:

"...not whether third parties may suffer irreparable harm if the relief sought is not granted, but rather whether the individual seeking the injunction or stay will himself suffer such harm..."


In Ontario Restaurant Hotel & Motel Assn., the same point was made, that there you are dealing with a situation where you had concerns by restauranteurs about the hygiene inspections that were taking place and the requirement to post those signs in the doorways that we all see now that say pass, fail, or somewhere in between.  They felt this was burdensome, et cetera, and they wanted injunctive relief.


What they did in that case is they adduced evidence from experts, but the Court, in rejecting their claim for injunctive relief, specifically pointed out that there is nothing in the record from an individually affected restaurant operator about the harm that they will ensue -- that they will endure.


That was determinative.  Comparing it to a case by one of my colleagues, the spring bear hunt case, Ontario Federation of Anglers & Hunters, their ultimate relief was not granted.  There was no injunction, but the Court said we are going to accept your argument on irreparable harm.  Why?  Because you have demonstrate through evidence, direct evidence, that tourism lodges are going to be affected.  Hunters are going to be affected.  Outfitters are going to be affected.  A series of affidavit material was presented.


What I think is interesting in this context is noting the language used in your procedural order, Mr. Chair.  Again, I am not purporting to educate you about your own tasks, but what struck me --


MR. WETSTON:  I don't have a perfect memory.


MR. VIRANI:  What struck me, Mr. Chair, about that order is that you said -- I am just quoting from page 2 of it:

In their pre-filed materials relating to the preliminary issues, certain parties had made arguments in favour of staying the assessments resulting from the application of section 26.1 of the Act until the Motion itself was heard on its merits.  However, no party has brought a formal motion to stay the assessments that is supported by evidence."


Continuing down the page, the bottom of page 2:

"Upon hearing the arguments and reviewing the pre-filed materials, the Board is not satisfied with the state of the record regarding the stay issue.  As the request for a stay was not made through a fully supported motion, the Board would like to afford parties the opportunity to file additional materials, including evidence to support their position."


To my mind, Mr. Chair, as someone who has never been before this tribunal, that is an open solicitation to supplement the record.  That is an open solicitation to a moving party to demonstrate that irreparable harm will occur.  In response to that - and this is why we point it out in our factum - we received one affidavit from one moving party, and that is from counsel to the organization itself, not from an individual business that is directly affected.


Just to dissuade Mr. Thompson's notion that the Attorney General is claiming that he is somehow flying solo in this proceeding, if we look at what else is in the record, Mr. Chair, we have one affidavit from an individual ratepayer, Aubrey LeBlanc.  That affidavit speaks to standing.  It doesn't indicate at all the harm that will be suffered by Mr. LeBlanc.  The third affidavit is by an articling student that talks about the statute and how it is created.


So all that you have before you is a record that doesn't speak to irreparable harm.  You have solicited supplementary material.  What you have been provided with is an affidavit from counsel that appends case law.


In my respectful submission, Your Honour, that is not evidence.  That is argument.


MR. WETSTON:  Just a comment, Mr. Virani.  I think the desire of the Board is always to have as complete a record as possible in making a decision, and obviously evidence is always welcome.  Argument is not unwelcome, but evidence is most welcome.


The point I was trying to make before is this - and I appreciate your argument on this point - we are not a court.  I am sure you will agree with me there.


MR. VIRANI:  Indeed.


MR. WETSTON:  We are -- and you will take this in the way that we describe it.  We are an expert tribunal.  We can act in some situations on our own expertise and with due recognition to our responsibilities that we have in the sector.


We have a lot of accounts that we set up in this Board with the LDCs, not all of which, despite Mr. Warren's disagreement from time to time, are set up through a hearing process.  But there is a lot of them, I don't know, 1,500 at last count.  There are many of them.


My point being is that when you talk about the evidence and that may be required -- for example, on the irreparable harm test as opposed to balance of convenience -- the knowledge that we have about the accounts and our rate-making responsibilities, and the responsibility that we have both to utilities and consumers in that regard, flows out of that expertise and experience that we have.


Many of these counsel that are here have a lot of experience before this Board in this regard.


So there are times in which the argument, with respect to evidence and its value, might be -- I would ask you to think about in the context of our expertise and what we do on a daily basis.  While you may want filed evidence, as you describe it, in order to support a claim of irreparable harm because that is the way the courts have outlined the test, I can't disagree with that.  I don't think anybody will disagree with what the law requires.  There is somewhat of a difference when you are appearing before the very organization that lives and breathes this every single day of its working life.


And so when you come here and say, 'Well, you need evidence,' and when parties argue some of these issues, we are deemed to know and understand whether or not indeed these matters from a practical perspective or from a fairness perspective will create significant issues of administrative challenge, such that it is possible that ratepayers, consumers of electricity, whether they be generators or whether they be sort of load industrial types or just residential consumers are somehow or another affected by this.


So the context of your argument, I think, needs to be placed in the context of the expertise that we have -- and I don't say that in any kind of arrogant way.  Expertise is often seen that way.  I don't mean it that way.  I mean it in legitimate administrative public-law terms, that there is a deemed expertise that we have and understand, and understand its implications.  And I think to some extent that is partly what Mr. Warren was getting at, to some extent.


So I have to ask you whether or not your arguments can in any way be qualified by that expertise, which of course the courts recognize regularly, and which some lawyers say, well, judicial review is completely unnecessary, because the courts simply always recognize the expertise of the tribunal and therefore normally favour it on standard-of-review proceedings.  Some of those people might be in this boardroom at this time.  That is not a critical comment.


Any comments on that, Mr. Virani?


MR. VIRANI:  Mr. Chair, I think that is a -- it is a useful enquiry.   I think the expertise of this tribunal is salient insofar as it relates to matters that pertain to your bread-and-butter work, for want of a better phrase, the matters that arise pursuant to your authorizing statute, the regulation, and the work you do on a daily basis.


Here we are assessing a test that arises on interim injunctive relief, in constitutional matters, and that by necessity takes it somewhat outside of the normal scope of one's expertise.


On the specific issue -- so the point there being that the RJR test is the RJR test, regardless of whether I am before an expert tribunal, a non-expert tribunal, or a court.


In respect of determining irreparable harm, the legal -- and I take this from your comments, because I believe it was contained therein -- the legal test isn't altered insofar as the requirement for evidence exists.  How strictly that requirement is applied by this tribunal perhaps requires some measure of deference.


Again, dovetailing on the comments by Mr. Thompson, the Attorney General should not be taken to be asking the moving parties to present a "parade" of ratepayers or a parade of affidavits.  What in fact you have, however, is no affidavit evidence, not even one, I would submit, that relates to direct irreparable harm.


And if that low threshold is not -- if that low threshold has not been met, then there is simply no basis upon which this tribunal, notwithstanding its expertise in matters that affect rates, could deem irreparable harm to have been demonstrated.


--- Pause in proceedings.


MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Virani --


MR. VIRANI:  Yes.


MR. WETSTON:  -- I have been really quite forgetful of the fact that we need a little break here.  I know you are almost finished, but --


MR. VIRANI:  Yes.


MR. WETSTON:  -- why don't we give you a few minutes, and you can continue your discussion.  We will take a short break.  Is that acceptable to everybody?


MR. VIRANI:  So about 15 minutes, Mr. Chair?


MR. WETSTON:  Yes.  I think 15 minutes.


MR. VIRANI:  Thank you.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.


--- Recess at 11:10 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:37 a.m.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.  Mr. Virani.


MR. VIRANI:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


Just by way of -- prior to continuing my comments on this stage of the analysis, I just want to point out, on the irreparable harm issue, the Chair's interrogatories are well noted, that there may be some administrative difficulties in terms of distribution of ultimate recovery to individually affected consumers or business consumers.


However, in our respectful submission, that difficulty, administrative or otherwise, does not meet the legal test of irreparable harm as set out by the Supreme Court in the RJR test.


The RJR test speaks specifically to the notion of the harm being quantified in money or cured.  It does not speak to the notion of whether curing the harm may be difficult, exceedingly difficult or administratively difficult.


Further, I think the important point that needs to be made is that one needs to step back and look at sort of the larger picture.  King Street doesn't necessarily confine the government to making such restitutionary repayment as the only possible solution.


As I canvassed a little bit in my submissions prior to the break, the King Street decision itself contemplates a situation in which there may be a suspended declaration of invalidity.  There may be the passage of legislation that creates a direct tax - that is, intra vires the province - and the retroactivity of that tax to the very same regulated entities, in which case you would have a situation where there would actually be no cause of action.  There would be no aggrieved consumer, because they would now be facing a tax that has been passed on to them pursuant to an intra vires regulation or statute, the overall point being that these notions of irreparable harm and the prospect of not being able to pay back individually affected consumers easily are, at the end of the day, quite speculative, because there are so many different permutations and combinations that could arise.


MR. WETSTON:  Despite any costs that might be involved, if the cost was $54 million versus the $53 million collected?  But that is a practicality which I realize doesn't concern you.


MR. VIRANI:  Yes.


MS. MINOR:  Excuse me, I'm sorry.


MR. VIRANI:  Your point is noted, Mr. Chair, but, to be fair, that kind of concern is not actually on the record in terms of --


MR. WETSTON:  That is speculative, as well.


MR. VIRANI:  So we are agreed.


MR. WETSTON:  I fully understand your submission.


The point, though, to sort of segue from that, is that our position on irreparable harm is that -- one is that it is not entirely clear from the materials filed by my friend.  I appreciate he has tried to clarify it now in oral submissions.  But the harm that is being contemplated, in terms of the class action proceedings and the ominous spectre of such proceedings, is not a harm or a risk that his client faces as a business consumer of electricity.  It is a harm that is faced by LDCs.


So it is a third party concern.


That being said, it is our submission, further, that the actual risk of such litigation is, on its own, speculative and without merit.


There is no cause of action in damages, in our submission, against a party that acts to recover a charge from consumers pursuant to legislation that is subsequently deemed invalid.


We acknowledge that a claim in restitution could be made by consumers and they could seek to recoup the costs of the regulatory charge, as arose in Garland.  But, again, as -- and I think we don't need to belabour the point, but I think it is quite clear that Garland demonstrates that such charges are recoverable by the consumers from the LDCs, and King Street demonstrates that there is a legal basis upon which such moneys would be recoverable from the -- by the LDCs from the government.


So the notion of the irreparable harm, the irremedial harm -- irremediable harm is not met.


Another point that needs to be indicated here is that -- and I believe this was a comment you asked about prior to the break, is that there is a notion of costs being -- the legal costs that arise from such class proceedings:  So the litigation expenses, they're lengthy, they are complex, they take time, they're very expensive.


In the notice of motion filed by my friend, at paragraph 15 they say quite clearly that the claim would be -- in a class proceeding would be $53 million in restitution plus the legal costs.  I believe in that case, if I remember correctly, the ultimate settlement by Enbridge was $22 million, virtually half of which went to the lawyers.


So a lot of money is at stake.  A lot of money is being made by these class action lawyers.  But the jurisprudence doesn't support my friend's position.  The jurisprudence is very clear that litigation costs, litigation expenses, are not -- cannot be equated with irreparable harm pursuant to part 2 of the RJR test.


There are five cases in my factum that all speak to that issue.  It is the Amnesty International case, the Leger case, Brocklebank, Bell Canada and Northwest Territories.


I just want to draw your attention to the Bell Canada and Northwest Territories cases, because those were both pay equity cases.  In the pay equity cases, they noted that they are lengthy, they are complex, and they are expensive, analogous to class proceedings, in my respectful submission.


Nevertheless, in those cases, the Federal Court did not find that the costs of litigation that would be potentially lost, if it were ultimately determined that the proceedings should be quashed, amounted to irreparable harm.


But even more importantly, in those cases, in Bell and Northwest Territories, those proceedings were ongoing.  So in the Northwest Territories case, they had been sitting for 76 days.  They had 62 more days to go.  The apprehended sort of expense was very imminent.  Despite that imminence, there was no finding of irreparable harm pursuant to part 2 of the test.


Here, we are several stages removed from that.  What the moving party is asking you to accept, Mr. Chair, is that, as a matter of law, proceedings that have not even been commenced, let alone are midstream, should present to you the prospect of irreparable harm such as to ground a claim for a stay of an assessment pursuant to part 2 of the test.  That is much more speculative than even the NWT case or the Bell Canada case, and, therefore, in and of itself, the matter should be disposed of as not grounds for a stay.


Again, not wanting to belabour this point, Mr. Chair, but the burden in this type of stay assessment is on the moving party.  We have had some back and forth with respect to what kind of evidence is required, how many affidavits, et cetera.


The case law is crystal clear that you need to -- the onus is on the moving party, and they need to adduce clear and non-speculative evidence.  Just for the purposes of the transcript and the record, the cites for that are in the Amnesty case at paragraph 29, the Leger case at paragraph 10, the Bell Canada case at paragraph 33, the A&P case at paragraph 7, and the Nobel case at paragraph 16.


The logic that informs the reasoning behind not deeming litigation costs or legal costs as irreparable harm is simply that legal costs are remediable.  They can be recovered through a costs order.


And in class proceedings in this province, the very same type of proceeding that my friend would urge is imminent and is a defined risk, in those very same class proceedings, such as A&P - and that case is in my authorities - the Court, the Divisional Court in that context, deemed that litigation costs and the fear of such costs, notwithstanding the fact that even substantial indemnity awards won't make you fully whole, do not amount to irreparable harm pursuant to part 2 of the test.


I think the best understanding of it and the best way to simplify it is what was captured by Justice Rothstein when he was on your former court, the Federal Court, prior to going to the Supreme Court.  He dealt with a case called Brocklebank.  In Brocklebank, he dealt -- there was a constitutional issue about a court martial.  The litigant made the very same argument about my potential legal costs, my litigation costs, constituting irreparable harm.


What Justice Rothstein said is that:

"If the applicant's arguments are taken to their logical conclusion, any time an accused raises a serious issue on any matter that can be raised prior to trial, such as the constitutional validity of a provision under which he is charged, or bias, a finding of irreparable harm would be inevitable.  That can't be right."


That is what Justice Rothstein found, and the same logic applies in this situation.


My final submission on the RJR test is with respect to the balance of convenience.  In our submission, Mr. Chair, the onus on the balance of convenience has not been met by the moving party.


As I said at the very outset, at its core the moving party's interest is a pecuniary interest.  They want to maintain lower rates for their business members who are manufacturers that consume electricity as a cost of doing business.  They failed to identify a public interest in a stay that outweighs the significant public interest in energy conservation and in renewable energy programs through the maintenance of the Ontario program, which is called Home Energy Savings Program, and the Ontario solar thermal heating initiative.


There are certain key principles that need to be kept in mind.  And I wasn't sure whether I needed to go to these principles, but in light of some of the submissions made this morning I think I do.


But a case involving the government and a constitutional challenge is different from a case involving a private party.  In private parties the rights are being determined vis-à-vis those two groups.  In a constitutional case you're dealing with a consideration of the public interest, and the public interest plays a critical role because of the wider impact of the challenge.


In constitutional cases that involve interlocutory relief, the test has been described as "a very low hurdle for governments and a high one for applicants seeking an interim injunction to restrain even briefly the operation of a law enacted by democratically elected legislature".  And that is from the Anglers and Hunters case, the bear-hunt case, and also Ontario Restaurant Hotel, which is that hygiene inspection case I mentioned earlier.


So there is a low hurdle on the governments.  But what does a low hurdle mean?  I want to take you to two passages in RJR MacDonald and also in Harper.  RJR MacDonald is at tab 1 of our materials.  And in RJR MacDonald, at paragraph 71, the Court said quite clearly and in quite an articulate manner -- I am at tab 1, RJR, paragraph 71.  It should be sidebarred in your material.


MR. WETSTON:  What page again, Mr. Virani?  Oh, okay.  I have it.


MR. VIRANI:  Sorry, paragraph 71.


MR. WETSTON:  Yes, thank you.


MR. VIRANI:  "In our view, the concept of
inconvenience should be widely construed in Charter cases.  In the case of a public authority, the onus of demonstrating irreparable harm to the public interest is less than that of a private applicant.  This is partly a function of the nature of the public authority and partly a function of the actions sought to be enjoined.  The test will nearly always be satisfied simply upon proof that the authority is charged with the duty of promoting or protecting the public interest, and upon some indication that the impugned legislation, regulation, or activity was undertaken pursuant to that responsibility.  Once these minimal requirements have been met, the Court should in most cases assume that irreparable harm to the public interest would result from the restraint of that action."


If we then go to the Harper case, which is at tab 2 of our materials, we see an elaboration on this.  And I am now at tab 2, paragraph 9.  So that is page 5 of that decision.  It is on your right-hand side.


And at page 5, in the first -- commencing with the first full paragraph, so after the indented portion:

"In assessing the balance of convenience, the motions judge must proceed on the assumption that the law is directed to the public good and serves a valid public purpose.  The assumption of the public interest in enforcing the law weighs heavily in the balance.  Courts will not lightly order that laws, that Parliament, or the legislature as duly enacted for the public good are inoperable in advance of complete constitutional review, which is always a complex and difficult matter.  It follows that only in clear cases will interlocutory injunctions against the enforcement of the law on grounds of alleged unconstitutionality succeed."

I just want to pause for a moment, because this point about complete constitutional review being a complex and difficult matter is salient, because there's been some -- some to-ing and fro-ing with respect to Ms. Minor's comments on July 13th about the government adducing affidavit evidence.


That is our -- that is what we will be doing on the merits of the challenge, and it is specifically because constitutional review is complex and difficult that such evidence about the purposes being pursued, evidence about the harm that is being remedied, evidence about the indicia of the regime, evidence about whether in fact the levy complies with the regulatory scheme, as opposed to being a pure tax, that is the proper location or proper time for such evidence.


What is important to realize and what is important that the moving parties realize is that that evidence comes at the determination on the merits:  The complex, constitutional review, the full-blown determination.


At this stage we are dealing with interim relief on a stay.  It's an interlocutory matter.  The government is not required to adduce this type of evidence.  And that is clearly what this passage and the passage I previously read to you show.


Further, Mr. Chair -- and this is in response to some of your enquiries this morning, which we accept, with respect to, you know, you have enquired today, why is Ontario using the OEB as the vehicle for this collection.  I think from my review of the transcript the previous time you asked Ms. Minor some questions with respect to, couldn't they perhaps collect it in the first instance from the consumer, or couldn't there have been a different way that the monies were allocated or a different formula.  Those are salient questions.  Those are important questions, Mr. Chair.  But they're not significant or determinative at this stage.


When we are dealing with a stay, it is not for the reviewing body to question the effectiveness of the government's legislation or whether it will actually achieve the objective that is intended.


And in this I can only rely upon RJR MacDonald, which is at tab 1 again at paragraph 72.  So turning back to tab 1 at paragraph 72, the Supreme Court clearly indicated that:

"It is neither appropriate nor necessary for an adjudicator to weigh or make an evidentiary determination on the validity of a government policy."


The Court at paragraph 72, which is page 19, said:

"A Court should not as a general rule attempt to ascertain whether actual harm would result from the restraint sought.  To do so would, in effect, require judicial enquiry into whether the government is governing well, since it implies the possibility that the government action does not have the effect of promoting the public interest and that the restraint of the government action would therefore not harm the public interest.  The Charter does not give the courts a licence to evaluate the effectiveness of government action, but only to restrain it where it encroaches upon fundamental rights."


So in my respectful submission, Mr. Chair, that is a full answer to both the submissions of Mr. Thompson and Mr. Warren this morning, that the Attorney General hasn't provided you with anything either, and therefore should somehow be penalized.  We are not obliged to, on a stay.  That is what the Supreme Court indicates.


There are three presumptions at work in this kind of environment.  One, pursuant to what I've just read to you, this Board is required to presume that the government acts in the public interest.  This tribunal is required to presume that when a law duly enacted by the government is suspended that the public interest would be harmed.  And thirdly, the government is not required to prove the public interest is harmed.  That must be assumed to be so.


And as I said to you this morning, Mr. Chair, that is exactly what transpired in Harper.  So not to repeat myself, but the Supreme Court turned the trial judge's ruling on its head, because the trial judge expected evidence from the government.  The Court in that case said that is the wrong approach:

"In considering the grant of an interlocutory injunction, suspending the operation of a validly enacted but challenged law, it is wrong to insist on proof that the law will produce a public good.  Rather, at this stage of the proceeding, it is presumed."


That is Harper, at paragraph 6 and paragraph 9.


So in this instance it is sufficient that the legislature duly enacted the -- Section 26 of the legislation and Regulation 66/10 thereto.  Following enactment the tribunal must proceed on the assumption that that scheme is directed to the public good and serves a valid public purpose.  It is not open to challenge that the government is governing in anything other than the public interest, and my authority for that is the RJR case at paragraph 68.  What instead the moving party must try to assert is some other competing public interest on their side of the balancing.


Prior to engaging -- just assessing whether their assertion of the public interest has some weight, Mr. Chair, the Court in RJR has indicated quite clearly that when you are doing the weighing on a balance of convenience you are entitled to presume that private applicants are presumed to be pursuing their own interests rather than those of the public at large.  That is RJR at paragraph 68.


The CME's notice of motion and the submissions by Mr. Thompson assert that there is a public interest in the administration of justice.  And I am going to read to you what their notice of motion says, and then I will also address Mr. Thompson's comments this morning.

But the notice of motion at paragraph 7 says:

"The public interest is better served by granting the stay in that, it eradicates the harm to the administration of justice and the inherent unfairness to utilities and consumers of the Board presuming its own actions in issuing assessments to be valid, before considering the Constitutional Questions, on their merits;..."


Reducing that, in effect, the moving party's argument is that the public interest is compromised where this Board or, for that matter, any other Board acts on the assumption that its authorizing legislation is constitutionally valid.  That assertion of the public interest is flawed.


The actions of this Board, no different than the actions of other government officials or other government tribunals who occupy their office under colour of authority, are immunized by a doctrine called the de facto doctrine.  That doctrine protects representatives of the Crown who act in good faith under legislation prior to a finding of constitutional invalidity.


That doctrine is really -- I don't mean to get philosophical or ideological here, Mr. Chair, but that doctrine is really fundamental to the operation of the modern state.  It attaches to government officials in order to protect and maintain the rule of law and the authority of government.  There is a passage from Referenced Re:  Manitoba Language Rights, which is a case that dealt with the fact that constitutionally all of Manitoba's legislation needed to be bilingual, and it wasn't for a period of about 120 years.


Instead of -- it's a pretty cataclysmic or apocalyptic sort of scenario.  In terms of dealing with the situation of rendering that legislative -- that body of legislation invalid, the court how had to assess and think about:  What would be the consequences for all of the parties over the previous four or five generations who had acted pursuant to those now invalid sections?


The Court said the de facto doctrine protects the interests and the rights of people whose rights may have been affected by parties - government officials, et cetera - who acted pursuant to this now unconstitutional legislation.


But the rationale is critical, and this isn't a passage that is in the Garland decision, so my friends would be well aware of it.  But the rationale is the de facto doctrine is necessary -- I am reading from paragraph 76 of Manitoba Language, and you don't need to turn to it, but it is also contained in paragraphs 80 to 84 of Garland, the 2004 Supreme Court case.

"...the doctrine is necessary to maintain the supremacy of the law and to preserve peace and order in the community at large, since any other rule would lead to such uncertainty and confusion, as to break up the order and quiet of all civil administration.  Indeed, if any individual or body of individuals were permitted, at his or their pleasure, to challenge the authority of and refuse obedience to the government of the state and the numerous functionaries through whom it exercises its various powers, or refuse to recognize municipal bodies and their officers, on the ground of irregular existence or defective titles, insubordination and disorder of the ... worst kind would be encouraged, which might at any time culminate in anarchy."


Mr. Chair, that is not an in terrorem argument, but simply a statement as to how Canada and other modern nation states operate.  This presumption that the moving party would have you simply dispose of quickly is actually quite critical.  And as opposed to trying to assert a public interest, in my respectful submission, Mr. Chair, it is the antithesis of the public interest that is being advocated by the moving party.


Having responded to the ostensible public interest asserted by the moving party, what we are left with at its core is simply an economic and personal interest.  It is a pecuniary interest in paying less for electricity consumption rather than a bona fide public interest.


In RJR-McDonald, the Court dismissed the weight that should be attributed to such pecuniary claims.  In that case, the interest asserted was by individuals who wanted the price of cigarettes not to increase.  You will recollect, Mr. Chair, that that case dealt with the requirements on tobacco packaging.


The Court clearly indicated that pecuniary interests in maintaining a reduced price for consumer products do not carry weight in the balance of convenience.  It weighted this economic interest negatively vis-à-vis the public interest in health and the prevention of medical problems attributable to smoking.


In Rosen, a somewhat similar scenario, where we had pharmacies seeking an injunction against legislation that said, Thou shall not sell tobacco at your pharmacy, again, the Court - that was Justice Borins, once again - said the interests of tobacco users to be able to purchase their products in a pharmacy is not to be weighted highly than (sic) the public interest in protecting health by banning the sale and use of tobacco in certain places.


In Ontario Restaurant, the case that I mentioned to you about the hygiene standards and the inspection boards, once again, the interest was deemed purely commercial in allowing the restaurant to promote itself without any restrictions or signage as to its hygiene standards, or lack thereof.  That interest was not weighted highly against the city's public interest in protecting health and safety.


At the end of the day, the pecuniary interest which is what, at its core, my friend's interest is, cannot override the pressing public interest in energy conservation and renewable energy through the maintenance of Ontario's two key programs, the HESP program and OSTHI program.


I add, just as a final caveat, Mr. Chair, that when you deal with a suspension case as opposed to a solitary exemption case, the onus on my friend, the moving party, is even more high.


The hurdle that the moving party must overcome is particularly high when they seek the suspension of a statute rather than a constitutional exemption from the operation of a statute.


A specific exemption is, again, to go back to a case we have talked about at length, Rogers, where we have the pregnant woman with child in her third trimester who seeks an isolated exemption from the ban on social assistance which was exercised against her because of welfare fraud.


In this situation, we don't have a single, solitary exemption being sought.  We have what amounts to a suspensive relief request.


In his opening submissions, my friend alluded to the fact it is not just my motion.  It is the motion of several parties.  All -- and he named I think four or five different intervenors who, in oral submissions, had joined in in the request for relief, which is requesting a stay.  That, on its face, supports the argument that in the event a stay is granted by this tribunal in this context, it won't have applicability simply to the CME or simply to Aubrey LeBlanc.  It will have widespread general applicability.


In that respect, it would be tantamount to a suspension of the operation of the legislation.


If I could have the tribunal's indulgence, I just want to review my notes to make sure I have covered off all of the comments of my friends.


Your Honour, just with respect to the Conway decision, because I think there is some confusion as to the import of that decision and its applicability in this case, the applicability of the Conway decision, a very recent decision of the Supreme Court, is only limited to this case insofar as it pertains to the jurisdiction of a tribunal, such as this one, that has the authority to deal with questions of law to consider the constitutionality of sections of its own authorizing statute.


Conway summarized the case law that had been going on for 20 years and distilled it into a statement that, indeed, if you do have the authority to address questions of law, you also have the constitutional authority to determine questions concerning the validity of your authorizing statute.


MR. WETSTON:  A Charter case, I think.


MR. VIRANI:  It was indeed a Charter case, and that is very important, Mr. Chair, because it leads me to my second comment.


The issue of the threshold consideration in Conway and the use of that term by my friend is actually inapposite.  In Conway, the concern was that the ORB was faced with concerns about the section 7 rights, section 9 rights, section 15 rights of a person detained at a mental health facility and whether -- and that person sought a remedy under the Carter, section 24.1.


The question was:  Does the ORB, as an admin tribunal, have the jurisdiction to deliver that type of remedy?  That was the threshold consideration.


Here, there is no claim for Charter relief in this context.  And, secondly, all parties have conceded that you have the jurisdiction to deal with constitutional considerations.


So the notion of the threshold consideration doesn't apply; far from it.  In this context, the determination of the constitutionality of the statute is the later determination.  It is not the threshold determination.  It is the complex review that needs to take place at a later date.

My friend has also made some submissions in respect of the fact that, in not dwelling on the serious issue that -- part of the analysis, somehow Ontario has made a concession as to the fact that this statute is not in and of itself constitutional.  Those are two very different things.  And I think Ms. Minor aptly pointed out that we do not concede on the merits the unconstitutionality of this scheme.  We are simply asserting that on that low threshold test, that sort of entry requirement, where a preliminary assessment is all that needs to be done, that there may in fact be a serious issue.

We have outlined the basis of our argument in our factum, but it is it inappropriate for the moving party to therefore indicate in his submissions that Ontario has sort of thrown in the towel on this scheme.  That is quite far from the case.

I believe that covers off my response to the submissions made by my friends opposite.  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.  If there are any further questions, I'd be happy to entertain them.

MR. WETSTON:  No, I think you have answered my questions during your argument, Mr. Virani.  Thanks so much.

MR. VIRANI:  Thank you.

MR. WETSTON:  Any reply?


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks, Mr. Chairman.  I will try and deal with these points quickly.
Further Submissions by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  The first point pertains to my friend's characterization of our motion as seeking to suspend operation of the regulation and the statute.  I submit that is a mischaracterization of the motion.  And if you look at the paragraph 1 of the motion, what we are seeking is an order either setting aside or staying the assessments.  That again is your action.  The law remains intact.  And we concede that really in the next paragraph, where we say "until such time as matters pertaining to the constitutional validity have been determined on their merits".

So I urge you to find that we are not seeking to suspend the legislation or the regulation.  We are seeking to postpone the effects of your actions, in responding to this -- these enactments.

The second point that my friend made about the nature of the interest CME represents, and it is important, in my submission, to distinguish between the nature of the interest being represented and the nature of the interest being presented.

The interest being represented is commercial.  There is no doubt about it.  But the interest being presented to support the request for interim relief is a public interest related to the administration of justice by independent -- and I underline the word "independent" -- quasi-judicial tribunals where actions that they have been ordered to take harm principles pertaining to the administration of justice.

So there is a public interest being presented to support the request for interim relief, and it is being presented by the commercial interests that I represent, as well as the interests of others that support the motion.

Turning to the presumption of constitutionality or validity, my friend referred to the Kimberly-Clarke case, and that is informative, in my submission, to distinguish between that case and what we are presented with here.

Kimberly-Clarke -- it is found at tab 9 of my friend's brief -- indicates that what was before the court there was an action by Kimberly-Clarke against the government.  They were suing the Ministry.  And what had happened in that case was the levy was imposed by the Ministry against Kimberly-Clarke, and they were saying, 'We want that back.  That's constitutionally invalid.'

And it came before the court, Mr. Justice Borins, who had no part to play in the imposition of the levy.  So it is quite a different situation than what is here.  And I think what is helpful, if you ask yourself this question:  What would Justice Borins do if the government had mandated the Supreme Court of Ontario to issue a levy against Kimberly-Clarke and one of his brother judges -- in a complete ex parte determination -- said, 'Okay.  I am going to do that,' and Kimberly-Clarke came before the court, before Justice Borins, seeking to have that ex parte determination postponed until the issue of constitutionality could be determined, and the government conceded on that motion that it was arguably not legal, and the government conceded that, 'We need to lead evidence to demonstrate that it is legal.'

I submit to you in those circumstances Justice Borins would undoubtedly --


MR. WETSTON:  Are you getting all of that out of the endorsement?

MR. THOMPSON:  No, but I'm --


MR. WETSTON:  I am just -- only have the endorsement here.

MR. THOMPSON:  I mean, what I'm getting out of the --


MR. WETSTON:  We all know that -- the unfortunate passing of Justice Borins.  I mean, he was a great judge, a great man.  But I don't see what all of the -- what you are getting at in this.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what I am getting out of the endorsement is that the legislation required the plaintiff to pay the charges.  That is not the case here.

MR. WETSTON:  Right.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the legislation required the tribunal to do something.

And what I am getting out of the endorsement is that we had an action --


MR. WETSTON:  Right.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- against the plaintiff and the government.  That is not the case here.

MR. WETSTON:  I see.  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  So I submit that in the circumstances that are presented here they are distinguishable clearly from what was presented there, and the presumption of validity does not apply, as I said in-chief.

The next topic I just wanted to mention a few words about is this irreparable harm, which is a feature of the RJR test, which we say shouldn't apply in this case.  So this relates to the alternative position that, if it does, what are the principles pertaining to irreparable harm, and I submit when you consider that issue there is sort of -- there are two aspects of it.  There is a non-monetary aspect of irreparable harm and then there is a monetary harm.

The non-monetary aspect of irreparable harm here arising from the failure to postpone relates back to these contravention of principles pertaining to the administration of justice, as I've mentioned.

The monetary-harm issue that my friend mentioned, in my submission, breaks down into this.  If it is permanent and essentially incurable, then it is irreparable, in my submission, and I repeat that unless you make an order that the government must pay utilities everything they pay, and consumers everything they pay, that the utilities don't repay to them, you cannot cure the irreparable harm to which consumers are exposed.  The class-action risk facing utilities is very real if you do not postpone the effect of these assessments.

And on the question of immunity, there's some submissions that my friend made on this point.  I think you have to look at the situation of the Board's immunity from this class action in the context that if the effect of these assessments is not postponed you would be doing -- you would be in effect authorizing the collection of monies knowing that it is allegedly illegal and that it is admittedly arguable by the government that it is allegedly illegal, and that further evidence is needed from them to establish illegality.  That, in my submission, is taking a big gamble, and may not -- and your own immunity may not apply.

Evidence of harm, my friend is critical of the quality of the affidavit evidence.  In reply, I would submit -- and you picked up on this, I think, in your own questions.  But this case involves ratepayers.  It involves all ratepayers.

You have the evidence from Mr. LeBlanc that says in his affidavit, 'This assessment affects me.'  And then the other evidence you have in the record is that this assessment from the regulation affects everybody, all ratepayers.

And in cases involving all ratepayers, evidence of the effect on all ratepayers should be considered.  You can draw that from your own experience.  You can draw it, in my submission, from the cases that are in the record.

The quantity of the harm, whether costs are added or not added, it is still a big number, $53 million, and it is far more severe than in the settlement amounts in the Union and Enbridge class action proceedings.


On the balance of convenience point, my friend suggests that our argument -- that it follows from our argument that in any case where you raise an issue of constitutionality, there is an issue of public interest weighing in favour of an applicant for interim relief.  I am not saying that at all.


I am saying that in this unique case, there is the public interest pertaining to the administration of justice that trumps any public interest principle that applies to enactments where the government concedes the enactments are arguably illegal, and concedes more evidence is needed from it to establish illegality.


Stating it another way, there is no public interest in sustaining acts that the government concedes are arguably illegal and acknowledges more evidence is needed from it to establish legality.


It is in those circumstances where you have those acknowledgements that I say the failure of the government to lead evidence on any point operates against it on this balance of convenience test.


Those are my submissions.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.  Mr. Warren, anything?


MR. WARREN:  I have nothing.  Thanks.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.  Does that conclude all of the submissions?  Mr. Vegh.


MR. VEGH:  If I may, sir, to just respond to one point that was made in the Attorney General's argument on a matter of law?


MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Vegh.

Further Submissions by Mr. Vegh:


MR. VEGH:  The Attorney General argued early in his submissions that he was not able to find a case where there was a stay based on a division of powers as opposed to the Charter of Rights.  I wanted to address that point.


I have handed around a copy of a section of the Constitution Act, section 52 of the Constitution Act, because I would like to make the simple proposition that the constitution is the constitution.


There is a requirement for all law to be consistent with the constitution, whether that constitutional restriction on a legislative authority comes from the Charter of Rights or whether it comes from a division of powers.


The Attorney General didn't point to any case that said there is a difference when it comes to a stay on the Charter versus a stay under the division of powers.


My submission is that there is no legal difference and there is no principled difference on granting a stay.  For the legal proposition, I am just relying on section 52 of the Constitution Act which says it is the constitution which is the supreme law of Canada.  You will see the constitution is defined as both the Constitution Act, 1867, which has a division of powers, and the Constitution Act for Canada, 1982, which has the Charter of Rights.


But there is also an important point of principle that arises out of this, because I heard the Attorney General to say that when it comes to the division of powers, it really is not that important, because you are only really deciding which level of government has the authority to do this.  So there is no really important constitutional principle at play.


And I take issue with that proposition, and I would like to refer you to the King Street case which the Attorney General relied upon quite extensively today.  At paragraph 14 of that case, the Supreme Court of Canada addresses quite thoroughly the importance of constitutional principle when it comes to reviewing a taxing power, including the taxing power under section 92.2 of the Constitution Act.


At paragraph 14, the Court says -- this is 14 of King Street.  It says:

"The Court's central concern must be to guarantee respect for constitutional principles.  One such principle is that the Crown may not levy a tax except with authority of the Parliament or the legislature... This principle of 'no taxation without representation' is central to our conception of democracy and the rule of law.  As Hogg and Monahan explain, this principle ensures not merely that the executive branch is subject to the rule of law, but also that the executive branch must call the legislative branch into session to raise taxes'..."


So King Street shows quite clearly there are important constitutional principles at stake when it comes to the constitutional limitations on taxation.


So confirming or -- confirming the restriction of constitutional taxing power to the constitutional entitlement is an important constitutional value, as important as any Charter of Rights value.


In this case, the constitutional restriction relates to direct and indirect taxes.  I think that is an important point to end on, because there is a difference between direct and indirect taxes.  Direct taxes are transparent, and the constitutional puts a transparency requirement on provincial legislatures when they're imposing taxes.


You asked earlier why the government chose this method as opposed to other methods.  Of course, I don't know the answer to that, but, in considering that, it is important to consider the value of transparency and taxation and that it would be very easy for the government to reenact this as a constitutional tax by simply directly taxing the people it wishes to tax.


Thank you, sir.  Those are my submissions.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you so much, Mr. Vegh, but one quick question.  Could you find a case?  Mr. Virani says he couldn't find a case.  I am just asking if you could find a case?


MR. VEGH:  There are lots of cases granting a stay on constitutional grounds.  My point is there is no difference whether it comes --


MR. WETSTON:  I understood your point.  I heard what you said.  I was just asking whether your research was better than Mr. Virani's.  That's all.  Could you find one on division of powers?  That's all.


MR. VEGH:  I hadn't researched it for that purpose.  I can refer to the Home Builders' case, which we referred to in argument last time we were here, where at the -- going into the Divisional Court, I believe the school boards actually granted an undertaking to return moneys and that was sufficient, and at the Divisional Court had held that the law was unconstitutional indirect tax.  The Court of Appeal refused to lift that stay.


So there was a stay on the operation of the law.


MR. WETSTON:  Yes.  I am only asking the question because, after all, this is a tribunal.  This is not a court.  It would be helpful, obviously, if some jurisprudence were found to assist in that regard.  And that was really the only question that I had.


I understand your reference to the home owners.


MR. VEGH:  Home Builders'.


MR. WETSTON:  Home Builders', yes.


Thank you very much.  No further argument?


Well, thank you very much for your arguments this morning.  Obviously we will get a decision out quickly.  It is necessary, given the time frame.


And we do have the other matters to deal with, Mr. Warren, that you brought to our attention this morning.  We will deal with that obviously, as well.  So I will reserve the decision on the stay.  And the other matters that we discussed last time, I obviously reserve on that matter, but a decision will be forthcoming.  That is necessary not only because a decision is necessary, but because of the time frame that we are looking at.


So thanks, once again, for your submissions and I appreciate your arguments today.  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 12:15 p.m.
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